NO. 73737-6-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

FILED
Jan 28, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

MR. 99 & ASSOCIATES, INC.; MARTIN S. ROOD,

Respondents,

٧.

8011, LLC, a Washington limited-liability company; WALTER MOSS and JANE DOE MOSS, husband and wife, and their marital community; KARI GRAVES and JOHN DOE GRAVES, husband and wife, and their marital community,

Appellants,

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE COMPANY,

Defendant.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033

Attorney for Appellants

### INTRODUCTION

8011, LLC ("Owner") engaged broker Martin Rood ("Rood") to lease or sell Owner's real property, but the agreement expired before Rood presented any offers, and months passed without any communication. Rood eventually presented an offer from his client, Mazda, hoping to be a dual agent. But Owner, uncomfortable with a dual agency and mistrusting Rood, repeatedly refused to sign a new listing agreement. After negotiations Rood remained involved in failed, Owner and Mazda entered a PSA on their own that did not provide Rood a commission.

Rood's commission is barred by the statute of frauds, where the only writing was legally defunct before any offer was made. The procuring cause rule does not apply, where Rood did not procure a buyer during the Agreement's express six-month term, and where the Agreement contains a tail provision addressing commissions in the event a sale was consummated after the Agreement expired.

As professionals, brokers are expected to know and follow the law governing their contracts. Rood failed to do so, and failed to perform under the terms of the Agreement. This Court should reverse the summary judgment in Rood's favor, grant summary judgment for Owner, and award Owner attorney fees and costs.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Owner's motion for summary judgment that, as a matter of law, Rood is not entitled to a commission. CP 436-38, 2446-48.
- 2. The trial court erred in granting Rood's cross-motion for summary judgment that, as a matter of law, Rood is entitled to a \$107,000 commission. CP 436-38.
- 3. The trial court erred in denying Owner's motion for reconsideration. CP 436-38.
- 4. The trial court erred in awarding Rood \$192,870.20 in attorney fees, \$2,429.47 in costs, and \$31,458 in prejudgment interest. CP 40.
- 5. The trial court erred in entering a judgment for Rood in the amount of \$334,757.67. CP 28-29.

#### ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Does the statute of frauds bar Rood's claim for a commission, where the only written agreement was legally defunct before the buyer even expressed an interest in the Property?
- 2. Is the procuring cause rule inapplicable where: (a) Rood did not bring Owner any offers before the Agreement

expired; and (b) the Agreement has a tail provision expressly providing how commissions would be paid in the event that a sale was consummated after the Agreement expire or was terminated?

3. Assuming arguendo the procuring cause rule applies, do Roods' repeated breaches of his statutory and common law duties bar any commission?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Since the trial court resolved this matter on summary judgment, this Court "considers the facts and all reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party," here the appellants. *Bishop v. Hansen*, 105 Wn. App. 116, 118, 18-19 P.3d 448 (2001).

## A. The parties entered a Lease Listing Agreement for the lease of sale of real property.

Appellant Kari Graves is the authorized agent for 8011, LLC, a Washington limited liability company owned by her father, Walter Moss, and her mother's estate. CP 1528-29. Graves holds a power of attorney for her father. CP 1528. 8011, LLC ("Owner") owned commercial property ("the Property") located on Highway 99 in Everett, Washington, between Paine Field and Everett Mall. CP

1529. Moss operated his business there for many years before retiring. *Id.* 

A few years after Moss' retirement, Owner decided to lease the Property, hoping to sell it when the economy improved. *Id.* Due to Moss' age, Graves represented Moss and Owner in efforts to lease the Property. *Id.* In July 2011, Moss' attorney introduced Graves and Moss to Martin Rood, a commercial real estate broker, and the president and owner of Mr. 99 & Associates, a real estate brokerage ("Rood"). CP 1528-29. Owner and Rood entered an "EXCLUSIVE LEASE LISTING AGREEMENT" ("Lease Listing Agreement" or "Agreement") on or about July 21, 2011. CP 1475-77, 1529. The terms of this Agreement are central to this dispute.

The Lease Listing Agreement gave Rood an exclusive right to lease the Property. CP 1475. The Agreement included an express six-month term, titled "DURATION OF AGREEMENT," commencing on July 21, 2011, and expiring on January 21, 2012. CP 1475 ¶ 1.2 The Agreement defined the term "lease" as "lease, sublease, sell, or enter into a contract to lease, sublease or sell." CP 1475 ¶ 3. In other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Attached as Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parties agree that the Agreement expired in January 2012 and that the "2011" was a typo. CP 496.

words, the listing agreement is an agreement to lease or "sell." *Id.* The "DEFINITIONS" section also provides that the terms "this Agreement," and "during the term hereof," include any extensions or renewals of the Agreement. *Id.* 

The "COMMISSION" provision, paragraph 6, sets forth five ways Rood would be entitled to a commission (CP 1476 ¶ 6):

- (a) Rood leases or procures a lease on the terms of the Agreement or other terms acceptable to owner.<sup>3</sup>
- (b) Owner leases the Property through someone else during the term of the Agreement;
- (c) "Owner lease[d] the Property within six months after the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement to a person or entity that submitted an offer to purchase or lease the Property during the term of this Agreement or that appears on any registration list provided by [Rood] pursuant to this Agreement . . ."
- (d) Owner voluntarily made the property "unleasable"; or
- (e) Owner cancelled the Agreement or prevented Rood from leasing the property.

Paragraph 6 provides that Rood's commission on a lease would be 5% of the gross lease amount for the entire term. *Id.* Paragraph 9, titled "ADDITIONAL TERMS," makes "part of this Agreement" a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the version of the Agreement Owner signed did not include the lease terms (CP 1476 ¶ 2), Rood apparently wrote the terms into the Agreement at a later date. CP 161.

commission of 5% of the gross selling price, in the event Rood sold the property for Owner. CP 1477.

The COMMISSIONS provision also allowed Rood to provide Owner a "registration list" within 15 days after "the expiration or sooner termination of [the] Agreement." CP 1476 ¶ 6. That list, if any, "shall only include . . . persons or entities to whose attention the Property was brought through the signs, advertising, or other action of [Rood] or who received information secured directly or indirectly from or though [Rood] during the term of this Agreement." *Id.* If such a list was provided, Owner would be required to provide it to any other broker who assisted Owner with the Property. *Id.* 

In sum, where Rood did not lease or sell the Property during the Agreement's term, and where Owner did not lease or sell it to someone else, make it unleaseable, or cancel the Agreement, the Agreement allowed Rood a commission in only one of two circumstances: (1) Owner leased or sold the Property no later than July 21, 2012 (six months after the Agreement's expiration) to a person who submitted a written offer to lease or purchase the Property before January 21, 2012 (the Agreement's expiration date): or (2) Owner leased or sold the Property no later than July 21, 2012,

to an entity on a registration list Rood gave Owner no later than February 5, 2012 (with 15 days of the Agreement's expiration date). CP 1476 ¶ 6. As addressed in detail below, Rood did not submit any written offers to Owner during the Agreement's term, Rood did not provide a registration list, and Owner did not lease or sell the property on or before July 21, 2012.

## B. The Lease Listing Agreement expired in January 2012, without any written offers to lease or purchase.

Rood listed the Property for lease with the Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA") at a rate of \$8,500 per month. CP 1530. He also put up a sign on the Property, showing it as available "for lease." *Id.* He did not list the Property for sale, and never advertised it as being for sale. *Id.* 

As discussed above, the Lease Listing Agreement includes a provision governing the term of the Agreement, which commenced on July 21, 2011, and expired on January 21, 2012. CP 492, 1475. Rood did not generate any significant leads during the Agreement's six-month term.<sup>4</sup> CP 1530. It is undisputed that Rood provided no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although Rood repeatedly acknowledged that the Agreement had expired (CP 1552-53, 1562, 1709, 7011, 2417), he also claimed that the provision entitling him to a commission for selling the property was not subject to the "DURATION" provision setting forth the Agreement's express term and expiration date. CP

written offers during the Agreement's term. *Id.* There is no mention in the record of any registration list.

Owner did not extend the Agreement after it expired in January 2012. *Id.* Indeed, Owner and Rood had no contact at all for nearly three months. *Id.* 

# C. Three months later, Rood contacted Graves out of the blue, asking whether Owner would be interested in selling the Property.

Three-months after the Agreement expired, Rood contacted Graves "out of the blue" in April 2012. CP 1530. Rood asked whether Owner would consider selling the Property, claiming that he had a potential buyer. *Id.* Graves replied that Owner would consider an offer to purchase. *Id.* 

Graves understood the Agreement to be expired when Rood approached her about a sale. *Id.* Owner had not solicited Rood to find a buyer, having preferred to lease the property until the economy improved. CP 1529-30. The parties did not extend the Agreement, or sign a new listing agreement. CP 1184, 1530, 1552-53, 1709, 1711, 2417.

<sup>1498, 2370-71.</sup> This argument is addressed in full below.  $\it Supra$  , Argument  $\$  C. 2.

D. A month later (now four months after the Agreement expired) Rood gave Graves a written offer to purchase the Property on behalf of his client, Mazda of Everett.

Rood wrote an offer to purchase the Property for his client, Mazda of Everett ("Mazda") on May 18, 2012, four months after the Agreement expired. CP 1530, 1567, 1584. Rood hoped to act as a dual agent. CP 1530, 1584.

Graves met with Rood to discuss the offer, telling Rood that she had never previously been involved in a real estate negotiation and was "very unsure about the process." CP 1531. Rood insisted that the deal was "normal [and] straight forward," giving little advice as to a counter-offer. *Id.* When Graves told Rood that she was concerned about him acting as a dual agent, he insisted that it was best for both parties. *Id.* Graves left the meeting feeling anxious and unrepresented. *Id.* 

E. When Graves attempted to have another broker represent Owner, Rood refused to acknowledge her broker, insisting that he represented Owner.

Graves elected not to respond to Rood's Mazda offer. CP 1530-31. She instead took the offer to three other brokers in late May and early June. CP 1532. Graves told the brokers that she did not trust Rood and wanted other representation in the negotiation. *Id.* 

Each broker analyzed Mazda's offer in detail, explaining significant risks in the offer and what Owner needed to do to protect itself. *Id.* Rood had never done so. CP 1532-33. Graves was convinced that Rood was not representing Owner's best interests. *Id.* 

Graves elected to work with one of these brokers, Matt Henn. CP 1533. Henn sent Graves a draft PSA, agreeing to represent Owner for a 1% commission. *Id.* When Graves told Henn that she was concerned about getting embroiled in a lawsuit with Rood, Henn suggested that while unnecessary, Owner could still pay Rood the 5% commission in his first offer from Mazda. *Id.* Graves was then willing to pay a 6% commission to make sure the deal was done properly and to avoid any litigation. *Id.* 

In early-to-mid June, Henn called Rood to tell him that he was representing Owner. CP 1533, 1581. Rood was "appalled," insisting that he represented Owner "on the listing side." CP 1582. Again, however, Rood repeatedly acknowledged that the listing Agreement expired in January, five months before Henn called Rood. CP 1552-53, 1562, 1709, 1711, 2417.

In a subsequent phone call, Graves straightforwardly told Rood that she wanted a different broker to represent Owner. CP

1533. During that call, and in a June 10 email, Rood insisted that he was handling the deal as a dual agent, and flatly refused to "recognize" Henn as Owner's agent. CP 1533-34, 1584. Not knowing what to do, and feeling "bullied" by Rood, Graves did not insist on Henn's representation. CP 1535-36.

# F. Graves reluctantly allowed Rood to continue negotiations on Mazda's behalf, but refused to sign a new listing agreement.

Graves met with Rood on June 12, 2012, allowing him to continue negotiations with Owner on Mazda's behalf. CP 1536. She continued to feel unrepresented at this meeting. *Id*.

For the first time since the Lease Listing Agreement had expired in January, Rood asked Graves to sign a new agreement. *Id.* Graves "absolutely refused." *Id.* As a result, Rood told Graves that he would have to remove his signage and take the Property off the market. *Id.* Graves told him he should do so. *Id.* 

Through June and July, Rood repeatedly asked Graves to sign a new listing agreement. CP 1184, 1536, 1591, 1592-93. It is undisputed that Graves flatly refused. *Id.* 

During the same time, Rood left his signage on the Property and continued to list the Property on the Commercial Brokers

Association. CP 1168. Rood received some interest in the Property

– some he shared with Graves, and some he did not. CP 1537-39.

Rood made clear that he would not bring Graves any offers to lease unless she signed a new listing agreement. CP 1539-40.

G. After Rood twice refused to submit Owner's counteroffer's to Mazda, Graves lost any remaining confidence that Owner's interests were being protected, walked away from the deal, and later closed directly with Mazda.

On July 28, Graves Owner's attorney asked Rood to submit a counteroffer to Mazda, but he refused. CP 1541, 1633-34. When Graves insisted that the counteroffer was final, Rood again refused to submit it to Mazda, stating that they had already indicated their unwillingness to come up on the purchase price. *Id.* In the same exchange, Rood again requested a new listing agreement. *Id.* 

Two days later, Graves told Rood that Owner was nearly ready to stop dealing with Mazda, but would submit one final offer. CP 1542. Rood again refused. CP 1542-43. In her own words, Graves "caved," allowing Rood to submit the offer he wrote. CP 1543. Graves made clear this was Owner's final offer. *Id*.

When Mazda nonetheless made another counter, Graves declined to respond. CP 1544. By mid-August, Graves began negotiating with Mazda directly through Owner's attorney. CP 1545.

In late August, Graves asked a new attorney to review what appeared to be the final deal between Owner and Mazda, having lost confidence that Owner's interests were being protected. CP 1547-48.

On September 4, Owner's attorney sent a new offer directly to Mazda, copying Rood on the email. CP 1552. Rood continued to insist that he represented Owner, while simultaneously acknowledging that the Lease Listing Agreement had expired long ago. CP 1552-53, 1709, 1711, 2417.

Rood insisted the Lease Listing Agreement contemplated "future' offers," but the Lease Listing Agreement does not mention "future offers." CP 1711, 1475-77. Rood ignores the commission provision, expressly stating that he would be entitled to a commission only if: (1) he obtained a written offer during the Agreement's sixmonth term; and (2) Owner leased or sold to that entity within sixmonths of the Agreement's expiration. CP 1476. Neither happened.

On September 28, Owner's attorney informed Rood that Owner had discontinued negotiations with Mazda. CP 1403, 1553. Days later, Mazda reached out to Graves, asking why she had walked away from the negotiations. CP 1554. Owner and Mazda

were able to reach a final agreement in October. *Id.* This agreement did not include any commission for Rood. *Id.* 

### H. Procedural History.

Rood filed a complaint in February 2013, seeking a \$107,000 commission, 5% of the final sales price, and attorney fees under the expired Lease Listing Agreement. CP 2407-23. Owner filed an amended answer in July, seeking attorney fees under the Agreement, and filing a counterclaim alleging Consumer Protection Act violations. CP 2377-91.

Rood moved for summary judgment to dismiss Owner's CPA claim as a matter of law, in February 2014. CP 2360. Rood filed the same motion on April 22, 2014. CP 1886-95. That same day, Rood filed a separate motion for partial summary judgment, arguing that he procured a buyer for Owner, so was entitled to a commission as a matter of law. CP 2278-95.

Owner responded to both motions on May 8, and Rood replied on May 19. CP 1486-96, 1497-1520, 1745-1814, 1815-21. Both motions were set before Judge George Appel for May 23, 2014. CP 1886, 2278. Judge Appel granted Rood's motion to dismiss Owner's

CPA claims as a matter of law, but denied his motion regarding the procuring cause rule. CP 1466-67, 1468-70.

In April 2015, Owner moved for summary judgment that as a matter of law, Rood's claim for a commission was barred by the statute of frauds. CP 1440. Rood filed an answer and cross-motion for summary judgment, largely failing to address the statute of frauds, and repeating the argument that Rood was entitled to a commission as a matter of law under the procuring cause rule. CP 1103-32. Owner replied on May 22, and Judge Joseph Wilson heard the motion on May 27, 2015. CP 604-15.

The court initially denied both motions for summary judgment, acknowledging that the issue was a legal one, but that fact questions precluded summary judgment. CP 515-16, 554. The case was set for trial on June 23. CP 516.

Owner subsequently moved for reconsideration, and on June 10, the trial court notified the parties via email that it was prepared to rule as a matter of law if the parties agreed to strike the June 23 trial date, stating that the court could not have a decision before the 23<sup>rd</sup>. CP 1-14. The parties ultimately agreed to strike the trial date, so long as the court considered both the response and reply on

reconsideration before ruling. *Id.* Rood responded on June 16, and Owner replied the next day. CP 447-70, 439-43. The court denied Owner's Motion for Reconsideration on June 18, also denying Owner's motion for summary judgment, and granting Rood's crossmotion for summary judgment, ruling as a matter of law that Rood was entitled to a 5% commission, \$107,000. CP 436-38.

The trial court subsequently granted Rood's request for attorney fees under a fee provision in the expired listing agreement. CP 28-29, 40. The total award to Rood, including the commission, fees, costs, and prejudgment interest was \$334,757.67. CP 28-29. Owner timely appealed. CP 2427.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### A. Standard of review.

Since the trial court resolved this matter on summary judgment, this Court's review is *de novo*. *Bishop*, 105 Wn. App, at 118. The Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, considering all facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. 105 Wn. App. at 118-19. Summary judgment is proper only where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 118.

### B. The Statute of Frauds bars Rood from recovering a commission.

The parties' Agreement expired by its own terms months before Rood brought Owner the Mazda offer. Upon its expiration, the Agreement was legally defunct. Thus, there was no valid writing entitling Rood to a commission, and his claim is barred by the statute of frauds.

1. Real estate brokers are professionals, and may recover a commission for the sale of real property only upon a written agreement that satisfies the statute of frauds.

A brokerage agreement to sell real property for a commission must satisfy Washington's statute of frauds:

In the following cases, specified in this section, any agreement, contract, and promise shall be void, unless such agreement, contract, or promise, or some note or memorandum thereof, be in writing, and signed by the party to be charged therewith, or by some person thereunto by him or her lawfully authorized, that is to say: . . (5) an agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to sell or purchase real estate for compensation or a commission.

RCW 19.36.010; *Bishop*, 105 Wn. App. at 120. Indeed, RCW 18.86.080(7), governing a broker's compensation for the sale of real property, confirms that the statute of frauds applies:

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