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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Mr. Rood worked tirelessly for almost two years to effect this 

purchase of this Property by this buyer from this seller. The procuring

cause rule entitles him to his $107 ,000 commission. Even if it did not, he 

won on tort claims as well, and 8011 fails to challenge judgment on those 

tort claims, so that this court must affirm. Even if this court were to reach 

the merits of the procuring-cause rule, it reviews the superior court's 

decisions for abuse of discretion only, and the superior court acted well 

within that discretion. 8011 's attempts to avoid paying the commission 

based on violations of RCW 18.86 fail because they are factually 

groundless and rely on statutorily abrogated case law and on a declaration 

not properly before the superior court. 8011 now admits that the 
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prevailing party is entitled to fees. In no event may 8011 recover fees, 

because it asserts that, and several other issues, for the first time on appeal. 

8011 concedes that the fee award to Mr. Rood was reasonable in amount. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Because 8011 does not appeal the entry of judgment 
based on Mr. Rood's tort claims, this court must affirm. 

The superior court based its judgment on Mr. Rood's tort as well 

as contract claims: "[T]here's a number of different theories which 

support the plaintiffs recovery." RP 7/1/15 at 12. The superior court 

"reviewed cases cited in counsel's briefs and finds Ms. Graves engaged 

Plaintiff Rood in this process, and that they had a relationship and 

recovery is based on tort and equity," CP 26; "recovery is not only based 

on contract, it's also based on tort and it's based on equity." RP 7/1/15 at 

12, 34. 8011 devotes no argument to the superior court's entry of 

judgment on Mr. Rood's claims for (1) unjust enrichment, (2) trover, (3) 

conversion, (4) misappropriation, or (5) tortious interference. This court 

thus must affirm that judgment. Nor did 8011 come to grips with Mr. 

Rood's tort claims in superior court; it cited no factual material or 

authority, and spent just two sentences, in opposing those claims. CP 610. 

This court should affirm the judgment because 8011 failed to assign error 

to or otherwise challenge the trial court's ruling on these issues and 

devotes no argument or citation to legal authority to these issues. RAP 

10.3(a)(4); King County v. Seawest Inv. Associates, LLC, 141 Wn. App. 

304, 317, 170 P.3d 53 (2007). Nor may 8011 address these points for the 
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first time in its reply brief. Sacco v. Sacco, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 

1266 (1990); RAP 10.3(c). This court may review only a claimed error 

that is included in the assignment of error or clearly 
disclosed in the associated issue pertaining thereto and is 
supported by argument and citations to legal authority. 

Vern Sims Ford, Inc. v. Hagel, 42 Wn. App. 675, 683, 713 P.2d 736 

(1986); RAP 10.3(a)(4), (6). This court must ignore "issues on appeal that 

are not raised by an assignment of error or are not supported by argument 

and citation of authority." McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 113 Wn.2d 

701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) (citation omitted). This court may affirm 

the trial court on any ground the record supports. Wash. Fed. Sav. & Loan 

Ass 'n v. Alsager, 165 Wn. App. 10, 14, 266 P.3d 905 (2011). 

Similarly, 8011 fails to assign error to the trial court's entry of 

judgment against Mr. Moss and Ms. Graves, not just against 8011, LLC. 

B. This court should strike or disregard the portions of 
8011 's brief that violate the RAPs. 

This court may consider only those materials brought to Judge 

Wilson's attention on summary judgment (and by extension, on 

reconsideration of summary judgment). RAP 9.12; CR 56(h). In asserting 

professional misconduct of Mr. Rood, 8011 relies heavily on Ms. Graves's 

declaration, App. Br. at 12, 38-39, CP 1528-1742, which was never before 

Judge Wilson. CP 30-40, 436-38, 553-55. This court must ignore it. It 

also is inadmissible because it contradicts her prior deposition testimony. 

Marshall v. AC & S Inc., 56 Wn. App. 181, 782 P .2d 1107 ( 1989). 
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C. This court must disregard several issues that 8011 raises 
for the first time on appeal. 

This court may dispose of issues solely because the appellant raises 

them for the first time on appeal (other than narrow exceptions not 

relevant here). RAP 2.5(a); N. Pac. Bank v. Pierce Cty., 24 Wn.2d 843, 

857-58, 167 P .2d 454 ( 1946). 8011 raises several issues for the first time 

on appeal: (1) that the Listing required Mr. 99 to provide a registration list 

to 8011; (2) that Mr. Rood never disclosed his dual agency; and (3) that 

8011 is entitled to attorney fees. 8011 also fails to assign error to whether 

8011 is owed attorney fees. 8011 's brief must provide a "separate concise 

statement of each error a party contends was made by the trial court, 

together with the issues pertaining to the assignments of error." RAP 

10.3(a)(4). Failure to do so precludes appellate review. State v. Olson, 

126 Wn.2d 315, 321, 893 P .2d 629 (2000). 

D. This court reviews the superior court's May 27 and 
June 18, 2015 rulings for an abuse of discretion. 

After the superior court denied 8011 's summary judgment motion, 

8011 moved for reconsideration on grounds that the ruling was contrary to 

law, CR 59(a)(7), and that "substantial justice" was not done, CR 59(a)(9). 

CP 2953. The superior court decided this action on 8011 's own motion 

for reconsideration, as 8011 admits. App. Br. at 15, 16. That one, 

undisputed fact is crucial to this appeal: Motions for reconsideration are 

not reviewed de novo, but for manifest abuse of discretion only. Lilly v. 

Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 320-21, 945 P.2d 727 (1997). 8011 must make 

"a clear showing of ... discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on 
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untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." Miller v. Campbell, 137 

Wn. App. 762, 768-69, 155 P.3d 154 (2007) (citation omitted). "Judicial 

discretion is a composite of many things, among which are conclusions 

drawn from objective criteria; it means a sound judgment exercised with 

regard to what is right under the circumstances and without doing so 

arbitrarily or capriciously." Coggle v. Snow, 56 Wn. App. 499, 506-07, 

784 P .2d 554 (1990) (citation omitted). The denial of 8011 's motion for 

reconsideration does not remotely meet this strict standard. Cases 

granting reconsideration under CR 59(a)(9), for example, typically involve 

egregious violations, such as when a party attested to perjured discovery 

responses. Barth v. Rock, 36 Wn. App. 400, 674 P.2d 1265 (1984). 

Nothing of that sort happened here. Nor was judgment for Mr. Rood was 

contrary to law; the record supported it. De novo review of these 

dispositive rulings here would contravene the settled standard of review on 

reconsideration, thwart the court's sound discretion to resolve the action 

on reconsideration, and violate the parties' express agreement to resolve 

the case in this manner. In these agreed circumstances, this court must 

review the May 27, 2015 Order for a manifest abuse of discretion only. 

The superior court did not reconsider its summary judgment 

rulings sua sponte. Rather, after 8011 moved for reconsideration, the 

superior court determined it could decide the case as a matter of law. CP 

5, 10. 8011 fully committed to decision of the action on reconsideration 

specifically. Trial was imminent. Counsel and the court communicated 

extensively on the subject. One goal it served was resolution of the action. 
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CP 18, 22. Both sides had urged the court to decide the action as a matter 

oflaw, so it exercised its discretion and proposed to do so. CP 1-25. 8011 

is not entitled to reversal just because it lost when it expected to win. 

Ordinarily, a superior court's determination on whether a statutory, 

contractual, or equitable basis for attorney fees exists is reviewed de novo. 

Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 866, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). Here, 

however, the superior court reached that issue only because 8011 moved 

for reconsideration, so the abuse-of-discretion standard applies to that 

decision as well. Even if this court were to review that decision de novo, 

it was correct. A contractual basis for attorney fees exists, and that 

contractual basis was central to each of Mr. Rood's causes of action. This 

court should affirm the award of attorney fees to him. Findings of Fact are 

required to support a fee award, Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 435, 

957 P.2d 632 (1998), and the superior court duly entered them. CP 30-40. 

This court must affirm a superior court's findings of fact, supported by 

substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is sufficient evidence to 

persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the finding's truth. State v. 

Ha/stein, 122 Wn.2d 109, 129, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). The record 

supported these Findings of Fact. CP 142-421. Indeed, 8011 challenges 

none of those Findings of Fact, which thus are verities on appeal. 

Merriman v. Cokely, 168 Wn.2d 627, 631, 230 P.2d 162 (2010). 

The amount and reasonableness of an attorney-fee award is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. Gander v. YeaKer, 167 Wn. App. 638, 

647, 282 P.3d 1100 (2012). Superior courts make a record of that exercise 
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by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law to support the award. 

Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 435. The superior court did so here. CP 30-40. 

E. The invited-error doctrine defeats 8011 's appeal, or at 
least requires an abuse-of-discretion standard of review. 

The invited-error doctrine applies when one "takes affirmative and 

voluntary action that induces the trial court to take an action that party 

later challenges on appeal," Lavigne v. Chase, Haskell, Hayes & Kalamon, 

P.S., 112 Wn. App. 677, 681, 50 P.3d 306 (2002), and prohibits review of 

that issue. In re Marriage of Morris, 176 Wn. App. 893, 900, 309 P.3d 

767 (2013). 8011 moved for reconsideration and then agreed with Mr. 

Rood that the court could decide the action as a matter of law in exchange 

for striking the trial. CP 1-25. That agreement induced the superior court 

to take the action 8011 now challenges on appeal. This court therefore 

must either affirm or apply an abuse-of-discretion standard of review. 

F. 8011 is estopped from seeking de novo appellate review. 

8011 is estopped from arguing that de novo review applies. 

Estoppel can defeat an appellant's very right to appeal. Jones v. Jones, 75 

Wash. 50, 57-58, 134 P. 528 (1913). Here, 8011 agreed with Mr. Rood 

that the superior court could decide the case as a matter of law on 

reconsideration, in exchange for Mr. Rood's agreeing to strike the trial. 

Mr. Rood, as plaintiff, held the right to proceed to trial or to strike the trial 

date. Relying on 8011 's agreement to allow the superior court to decide 

the entire action on reconsideration, he chose the latter. 8011 agreed to 

reconsideration, and thus that an abuse-of-discretion standard applied. It 
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plainly relinquished any argument that appellate review is de novo. 

G. Mr. Rood was the procuring cause of the sale to Mazda. 

1. Mr. Rood caused the events that caused 8011 's 
sale of the Property to Mazda. 

A real estate broker is entitled to his commission when he procures 

a purchaser who is accepted by the principal and with whom the principal 

enters into a binding, enforceable contract. Bonanza Real Estate, Inc. v. 

Crouch, 10 Wn. App. 380, 385, 517 P.2d 1371 (1974) (citing White & 

Bollard, Inc. v. Goodenow, 58 Wn.2d 180, 361P.2d571 (1961); Dryden v. 

Vincent D. Miller Inc., 56 Wn.2d 657, 354 P.2d 900 (1960); Wesco Realty, 

Inc. v. Drewry, 9 Wn. App. 734, 515 P.2d 513 (1973)). To earn a 

commission, a broker must have either (1) produced (i.e., procured) a 

purchaser ready, able, and willing to buy the property, or (2) sold the 

specific property, contemplated in the agreement to pay commission. 

Bethel v. Preston, 157 Wash. 652, 656, 290 P. 224 (1930); Cushing v. 

Monarch Timber Co., 75 Wash. 678, 685, 135 600 (1913). 

8011 repeatedly denies that the procuring-cause rule applies but 

fails to define what a "procuring cause" is. Mr. Rood was the procuring 

cause of this sale because he set in motion the events that culminated in 

the sale and thus accomplished what he undertook under the his agreement 

with 8011 to procure a buyer for the Property. Bonanza, IO Wn. App. at 

385 (citing Hayden v. Ashley, 86 Wash. 653, 150 P. 1147 (1915); Bagley 

v. Foley, 82 Wash. 222, 144 P. 25 (1914)). Mr. Rood earned his 

commission by producing a buyer who was ready, willing, and able to buy 
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the Property on the terms required. Bloom v. Christensen, 18 Wn.2d 137, 

142, 138 P.2d 655 (1943) (citing Ollinger Co. v. Benton, 156 Wash. 308, 

286 P. 849 (1930); Arthur D. Jones & Co. v. Eilenfeldt, 28 Wash. 687, 69 

P. 368 (1902); Carstens v. McReavy, 1 Wash. 350, 25 P. 471 (1890)); 

Bethel, 157 Wash. at 656; Cushing, 75 Wash. at 685. The final terms of 

the sale are immaterial because Mr. Rood was the procuring cause of the 

sale itself. Bonanza, 10 Wn. App. at 385 (citing Chamness v. Marquis, 62 

Wn.2d 509, 383 P.2d 886 (1963); Quadrant Corp. v. Spake, 8 Wn. App. 

162, 504 P.2d 1162 (1973)). 8011 cannot deny Mr. Rood his commission 

simply by excluding him from the final stage of negotiations. Mazda was 

ready, able, and willing to buy the Property because of Mr. Rood's efforts. 

2. Mr. Rood continued to work with and procure 
Mazda during and after the Listing. 

During the Listing, Mr. Rood worked tirelessly to market the 

Property for lease or sale. § 111.C., supra. After the Listing expired, 

continued to work tirelessly to that end, and particularly in an effort to sell 

the Property to Mazda. § 111.D.-F., supra. 8011 argues Mr. Rood did not 

"procure" Mazda until after the Listing expired, because Mazda could not 

buy the Property when Mr. Rood first introduced it to Mazda due to the 

eight-mile rule, so that Mazda's first offer to 8011 came after the Listing 

expired. Mazda would not have obtained a waiver or made any offer to 

8011 but for Mr. Rood. Mr. Rood worked to procure Mazda before, 

during, and after the Listing. Moreover, 8011 is precluded from raising 

any question as to the ability of Mazda to perform because 8011 accepted 

5885452.doc 31 



Mazda as the purchaser and entered into a binding agreement with Mazda. 

Largentv. Ritchey, 38 Wn.2d 856, 233 P.2d 1019 (1951). 

Thus, Mr. Rood produced a buyer who was ready, able, and 

willing to purchase the Property upon the terms required. Cushing, 75 

Wash. at 685. No other broker produced Mazda; it was already at the 

table because of Mr. Rood. He introduced the Property to Mazda, drafted 

PSAs, and helped Mazda and 8011 negotiate. He helped 8011 increase its 

sales price, further showing that his commission was well earned. 

3. The procuring-cause rule applies to Mr. Rood 
despite the Listing's expiration, it does not state 
how commission is awarded when it expires. 

The procuring-cause rule applies to Mr. Rood even though the 

Listing expired. As 8011 admits, a real estate broker who procures a 

buyer while employed to do so is entitled to a commission even when his 

employment or contract expires, as long as the broker is the procuring 

cause of the sale and the contract is silent as to what should happen to the 

commission in the event that the employment is terminated. See Syputa v. 

Druck, Inc., 90 Wn. App. 638, 645-46, 954 P.2d 279 (1998) (citing Willis 

v. Champlain Cable Corp., 109 Wn.2d 747, 754-55, 748 P.2d 621 (1988)). 

The rule prevents a principal from enjoying the fruits of the broker's 

labors but then evading paying him and provides that when a broker is 

employed to procure a purchaser and does procure a 
purchaser to whom a sale is eventually made, he is entitled 
to a commission regardless of who makes the sale if he was 
the procuring cause of the sale. This rule is applied to 
allow agents commissions on sales completed after a 
principal has terminated their employment if the sales 
resulted from the agent's efforts. .. . [I]f a principal 
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attempts to revoke an agency or intervenes by taking the 
matter into his or her own hands, "such revocation or 
intervention, if made in bad faith, cannot defeat the right of 
the broker to a commission." If this were not so, the 
principal could easily escape paying the agent's 
commission while enjoying the fruits of the agent's labors. 

Willis, 109 Wn.2d at 754-55 (citations omitted). Here, Mr. Rood began 

procuring Mazda before the Listing, continued procuring Mazda during 

the Listing, and procured Mazda after the Listing. Because this Listing 

does not specify what happens to the commission if Mr. Rood procures 

Mazda but his Listing expired, the procuring-cause rule applies. 

8011 argues that awarding Mr. Rood a commission after the 

Listing expired is an "absurd result," citing Brackett v. Schafer, 41 Wn.2d 

828, 831, 252 P.2d 294 (1953). There, the plaintiff argued that a written

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